NOV 0 4 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON 80

No. 315096

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANE FAST, JAMIE FAST, the marital community comprised thereof, ROBERT DALTON FAST, and the estate thereof,

Appellants,

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. ASSIGMENT OF ERRORS

- a. The trial court erred in granting Defendants partial summary judgment on the claim where medical negligence caused Jamie to lose her unborn child.
- b. The trial court erred in granting Defendants summary judgment.

2. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- a. Did the trial court err as a matter of law by granting Defendants partial summary judgment, because it applied the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations to a medical malpractice action, directly in conflict with clear statutes?
- b. Did the trial court err as a matter of law by granting Defendants summary judgment under the tort claim form statute, because Defendants are barred from raising a tort claim form defense by their failure to make a tort claim form available?
- c. In the alternative, did the trial court err as a matter of law by granting Defendants summary judgment under the tort claim form statute, because the Fasts substantially complied with the statute?
- d. In the second alternative, did the trial court err as a matter of law by granting Defendants summary judgment under the tort claim

form statute, because the statute is either unconstitutional as a matter of law, or unconstitutional as applied to this case?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Jamie Fast established care with Defendant Dr. Smith around the beginning of 2008, with complaints of excessive bleeding and inability to conceive. CP 369-77, 243-47, 382-405, 446-706. She became pregnant around March, 2008. Id. Defendants Dr. Smith and Dr. Shroff medical partners and employees of Defendant Kennewick Public Hospital District, ("Hospital") - attended to Jamie's pregnancy. Id. Although Jamie never had diabetes prior to her pregnancy, she did have risk factors for diabetes, and she exhibited several warning signs for diabetes during her pregnancy. Id. Despite this, Jamie's sugar levels were not tested until August 29, 2008, when her child had reached 29 weeks, an age of viability. Id. The test indicated that Jamie had extremely high blood sugar concentration, and she was admitted to the Hospital on August 30, 2008. Id. At the Hospital, Dr. Schroff ordered insulin and intermittent fetal heart monitoring. Id. The fetal monitor alarmed several times during the evening and throughout the night. Id. Upon each alarm, however, instead of delivering the distressed baby, Dr. Schroff or the nurses simply turned off the monitor. Id. When the nurses turned on the monitor around 4:00 a.m. the morning of August 31, 2008, they were unable to detect a fetal heart beat. Id. Jamie's baby had died. Id.

Almost three years later, on August 26, 2011, the Plaintiffs served written, good faith requests for mediation to each of the Defendants. CP 132-142, 143-212. Despite the Fasts' repeated attempts to persuade Defendants to mediate, (*Id.*; CP 239-41), by July 10, 2012, the Defendants' counsel communicated that they are not willing to mediate. CP 132-142. On July 18, 2012, the Fasts filed a complaint against Dr. Smith, Dr. Schroff, and the Hospital under Chapter 7.70 RCW (medical negligence), to include a remedy provided by RCW 4.24.010 (parents' right to recover from injury or loss of a child). CP 1-16.

On November 19, 2012, Defendant Dr. Smith filed a motion for summary judgment, to which the other Defendants joined. CP 24-66, 76-104. The trial court awarded summary judgment, (RP 3-8, CP 1224-1236), and the Fasts timely appealed, (CP 1224-1248, 1256-1257).

There are two issues here. First, the Court is asked to determine which statute of limitations applies to Jamie's recovery for the loss of her unborn child: The medical malpractice statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350; or the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2). Both statutes of limitation provide a three-year bar. But the medical malpractice statute of limitations is tolled for one year when a plaintiff requests mediation; whereas the personal injury catch-all statute

of limitations is not tolled by requesting mediation. Thus, if the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations is applied here, then the Fasts are time-barred from seeking recovery for the loss of their unborn child. If the medical malpractice statute of limitations applies, however, then it was tolled when the Fasts requested mediation, and the Fasts' claim was timely filed.

Second, this Court is asked to interpret new language under the tort claim form notice statute at RCW 4.96.020, requiring local governmental entities to make available a standard tort claim form. The question presented is whether the local governmental entity can claim a defense under the form notice statute if it fails to make a form available. In the alternative, the question is whether the Fasts substantially complied with the form notice statute. In the second alternative, the question is whether the form notice statute is unconstitutional, either as a matter of law or as applied here.

C. ARGUMENT

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Fasts appeal from the trial court's summary judgment.

Appellate review of a trial court's decision on summary judgment is de

novo; the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. The court reviews material submitted for and against a motion for summary judgment in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.² If there are genuine issues of material fact undecided or the moving party is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, then summary judgment must be denied.3 "The motion should be granted only if, from the evidence, reasonable men could reach but one conclusion." 4

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY **JUDGMENT BECAUSE** THE **MEDICAL** MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AT RCW 4.16.350 APPLIES TO THIS CASE, AND IT WAS TOLLED ONE YEAR WHEN THE **FASTS** REQUESTED **THERFORE** MEDIATION, THE FASTS' CLAIM WAS TIMELY FILED.

a. This issue will be determined on statutory construction.

The only question under this issue is which statute of limitations applies to the Fasts' claim for the loss of their baby caused by medical malpractice. The parties do not dispute the material facts pertaining to this The dates when Jamie received health care, when the Fasts requested mediation, and when they filed the complaint. The Fasts relied

¹ E.g., Castro v. Stanwood Sch. Dist. No. 401, 151 Wn.2d 221, 224, 86 P.3d 1166 (2004); Myles v. Clark County, 170 Wn.App. 521, 289 P.3d 650 (2012) review denied by Myles v. State, 146 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 706 (2013)

Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 528,

^{530, 503} P.2d 108 (1973)

³ Yakima Fruit, 81 Wn.2d 528; CR 56(c).

⁴ Yakima Fruit, 81 Wn.2d at 530; CR 56(c).

upon the tolling provision under RCW 7.70.110, providing that the medical malpractice statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350 is tolled for one year upon requesting mediation. Without tolling, the Fasts' claim would not have been timely filed. Defendants argue that the medical malpractice statute of limitations does not apply to the entirety of the Fasts' claim, but instead the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2) applies to damages for the loss of their child, which is not tolled by requesting mediation. CP 24-47, 89-101.

This issue will be determined on statutory construction. The interpretation of a statute is a pure question of law and is reviewed *de novo*. The court's fundamental purpose in construing a statute is to give effect to Legislature's intent. 6

The fundamental purpose in construing statutes is to ascertain and carry out legislative intent. Arborwood Idaho, LLC v. City of Kennewick, 151 Wn.2d 359, 367, 89 P.3d 217 (2004). The legislature's intent can be discovered from the plain meaning of the statute, which is determined "from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The court must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them, and the statute must be construed so that all language is given effect. Restaurant Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.,

⁵ E.g., Wilson v. Grant, 162 Wn.App. 731, 258 P.3d 689 (Wn.App. Div. 3, Jul 19, 2011) as corrected (Aug 18, 2011).

⁶ E.g., <u>Arborwood Idaho, LLC v. City of Kennewick</u>, 151 Wn.2d 359, 367, 89 P.3d 217 (2004); <u>State ex rel. M.M.G. v. Graham</u>, 159 Wn.2d 623, 632, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007); <u>State v. J.P.</u>, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003); <u>City of Seattle v. Fuller</u>, 300 P.3d 340, 342-3 (Wash., 2013).

150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003). If the statute remains susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, it is ambiguous and the legislative history and circumstances surrounding its enactment may be considered. Id. Constructions that yield unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences must be avoided. Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002).

City of Seattle v. Fuller, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269-70, 300 P.3d 340 (2013).

b. The medical malpractice statutes direct the courts to apply the medical malpractice statute of limitations.

Chapter 7.70 RCW⁷ is the cornerstone of Washington's medical malpractice⁸ statutes. It begins with Legislature's declaration of police power to modify all actions for damages resulting from health care:

The state of Washington, exercising its police and sovereign power, hereby modifies as set forth in this chapter and in RCW 4.16.350, as now or hereafter amended, certain substantive and procedural aspects of all civil actions and causes of action, whether based on tort, contract, or otherwise, for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976.

RCW 7.70.010. Courts recognize that our medical malpractice statutes sweep broadly and apply to all civil actions for damages resulting from health care, regardless of how a claim is styled.⁹ When an injury results

⁷ The full text of Chapter 7.70 RCW is provided at Ex 1.

⁸ The terms "medical malpractice" and "medical negligence" will be used interchangeably herein. E.g., RCW 48.140.010(9) under the Insurance title provides, "'Medical malpractice' means an actual or alleged negligent act, error, or omission in providing or failing to provide health care services that is actionable under chapter 7.70 RCW."

⁹ E.g., Harris v. Extendicare Homes, Inc., 829 F.Supp.2d 1023 (2011); Hall v. Sacred Heart Medical Center, 100 Wn.App. 53, 995 P.3d 539, as amended, review denied 141 Wn.2d 1022, 10 P.3d 1073 (2000).

from health care, chapter 7.70 RCW controls the actions for damages. 10

Here, the Fasts allege that the Defendants provided health care below the accepted standard of care, and that they suffer damages as a result. CP 1-16. The Fasts' claim is therefore controlled by Chapter 7.70 RCW. RCW 7.70.030 provides bases for recovery under medical malpractice, and RCW 7.70.040 defines the duty, breach, and causation elements of medical negligence.

Although the Fasts claimed many injuries in their cause, (CP 1-16), the only injury pertaining to this issue is the Fasts' injury for the loss of their viable unborn child. RP 5-7. Legislature expressly provides that parents can recover from the loss of a child:

A mother or father, or both . . . may maintain or join as a party an action as plaintiff for the injury or death of the child. . . . In such an action, in addition to damages for medical, hospital, medication expenses, and loss of services and support, damages may be recovered for the loss of love and companionship of the child and for injury to or destruction of the parent-child relationship in such amount as, under all the circumstances of the case, may be just.

RCW 4.24.010.¹¹ It is settled law that parents can recover under RCW 4.24.010 for the death of a viable unborn child.¹² This Court recognized,

A viable unborn child is a "minor child" for purposes of RCW

E.g., Branom v. State, 94 Wn.App. 964, 969, 974 P.2d 335, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1023, 989 P.2d 1136 (1999); see also Hall, 100 Wn.App. at 61; Harris, 829 F.Supp.2d at 1028.

¹¹ The full text of RCW 4.24.010 is provided at Ex. 3.

¹² See Cavazos v. Franklin, 73 Wn. App. 116, 867 P.2d 674 (Wn. App. Div. 3, 1994) and cases cited therein.

4.24.010; thus, the parents of such minor child are entitled to sue on their own behalf for the death of their child.

Cavazos v. Franklin, 73 Wn.App. 116.¹³ The Fasts therefore maintain an action for damages resulting from health care under Chapter 7.70 RCW, from which they can recover damages for the resulting loss of their child.

The only question under this issue is which statute of limitations applies to the Fasts' claim for the loss of their child resulting from medical malpractice. The Court's task here is simple; Legislature expressly directs that the medical malpractice statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350 control all claims for damages resulting from health care. Legislature "modifies as set forth in this chapter and in RCW 4.16.350 . . . all civil actions . . . for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care," (RCW 7.70.010 emphasis added). RCW 4.16.350 provides in part:

> Any civil action for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976, against [doctors, nurses, hospitals, or other specified health care providers] . . . based on alleged professional negligence shall be commenced within three years of the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition

RCW 4.16.350.¹⁴

The medical malpractice statute of limitations is tolled for one year when a plaintiff requests mediation:

¹³ Citing Moen v. Hanson, 85 Wn.2d 597, 537 P.2d 266 (1975); Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Rankin, 59 Wn.2d 288, 367 P.2d 835 (1962).

The full text of RCW 4.16.350 is provided at Ex. 2.

The making of a written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under this chapter shall toll the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year.

RCW 7.70.110. Here, the Fasts served Defendants written, good faith requests for mediation on August 26, 2011, within the three-year period starting on August 31, 2008. CP 143-212, 132-142. The statute of limitations was therefore tolled for one year. The Fasts filed their complaint on July 18, 2012, (CP 1-16, 141), less than one year after requesting mediation. The Fasts' complaint was therefore timely filed. The partial summary judgment should be reversed.

Because the Legislative intent is clear from the plain meaning of the statute, this inquiry should end here.

c. The personal injury catch-all statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2) does not apply here.

Defendants argue that the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations should control instead. CP 27-48, 89-101. They argue that the Fasts' injury is the result of the death of their baby; that a death is not an "injury"; that recovery from the loss of their baby is not a medical malpractice claim; that the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations thus applies; that the Fasts' claim for mediation did not toll the statute of limitations; and hence the Fasts' claim was not timely. CP 35-40.

(1) Legislature enacted RCW 4.16.350 to deliberately remove medical

malpractice causes from the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2).

Legislature deliberately crafted RCW 4.16.350 to respond to the jurisprudence and practical effects of applying the limitations provisions at RCW 4.16.080(2) to medical malpractice actions. Prior to enactment, former RCW 4.16.010 and RCW 4.16.080(2) "applied to all medical malpractice actions. With enactment of RCW 4.16.350, former RCW 4.16.010 and RCW 4.16.080(2) no longer apply to such actions." 16

(2) There is no conflict between the medical malpractice statutes and the parents' right to recover from the loss of a child.

Defendants characterize the Fasts' claim as a "wrongful death" action, because the Fasts seek to recover damages from the loss of their child. CP 35-40. Defendants argue that wrongful death actions are "creatures of statute," and that therefore the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations should apply instead of the medical malpractice statute of limitations. *Id.* Defendants recognize that RCW 4.24.010 does not contain a statute of limitation, nor does it reference a statute of limitation. CP 38-40.¹⁷ Courts have applied the personal injury catch-all statute of limitations to claims for the death of a child under RCW

¹⁵ Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Ctr., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 854, 860-63, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998)

¹⁶ Id. at 862.

¹⁷ See also Wills v. Kirkpatrick, 56 Wn.App. 57, 785 P.2d 834 (Wn.App. Div. 2, 1990)

4.24.010 when no other statute applies. 18

The Fasts agree with Defendants that the right to recover damages for the death of a child is a right created by statute. But that is irrelevant. "All of the discussion about 'a liability created by statute' is a red hearing. We do not have a statute of limitations, as many states do, specifically applicable to an action for a liability created by a statute." Because the death of the child here is an injury resulting from health care, the action is controlled by chapter 7.70 RCW, which directs that the medical malpractice statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350 applies.

Neither does it help Defendants to characterize the Fasts' claim as a "wrongful death" action. Chapter 7.70 RCW applies to "all civil actions and causes of action, whether based on tort, contract, or otherwise, for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care," (RCW 7.70.010). This Court has construed the meaning of "all causes of action" in another statute, and held, "All' means all. It does not mean simply those causes of action that are not otherwise covered by [another statute]." Where RCW 7.70.010 modifies "all civil actions," it applies to wrongful death actions and actions where remedy is had under RCW 4.24.010. This case

¹⁸ Td

¹⁹ Bond v. State, 59 Wn.2d 493, 368 P.2d 676 (1962); see also Rose v. Rinaldi, 654 F.2d 546 (9th Cir. 1981) (Washington has no statute of limitations that applies to liabilities by virtue of having been created by statute.).

Wilson v. Grant, 162 Wn.App. at 739 (citations omitted)

is thus subject to chapter 7.70 RCW²¹ and RCW 4.16.350.

Finally, the Court is not required to choose whether this cause sounds in "medical malpractice" or "wrongful death." That is a false dilemma. When read properly, the statutes are clear that a medical malpractice action encompasses recovery from the loss of a child. The relevant medical malpractice statutes are "merely particularized expressions of the four concepts fundamental to any negligence action: duty, breach, proximate cause, and damage or injury." ²² The medical malpractice statutes modify duty, breach, and causation, but do not address "damage or injury," (chapter 7.70 RCW); whereas RCW 4.24.010 addresses damages, but not duty, breach, or causation. The statutes are not in conflict; to the contrary, they fit together perfectly. Where the duty, breach, and causation elements of a negligence cause align with chapter 7.70 RCW, Legislature is clear that the medical malpractice cause will be controlled by that chapter, regardless of the damages to be recovered.

Courts recognize the harmony between medical malpractice statutes and damages for wrongful death. <u>Harbeson</u>, for example, applied the medical malpractice statutes to parents' claim for emotional damages

See Branom, 94 Wn.App. 964; Harris, 829 F.Supp.2d 1023; Hall, 100 Wn.App. 53.
 Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 468-69, 478-83, 656 P.2d 483 (1983)
 quoting Hunsley v. Giard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 434, 553 P.2d 1096 (1976). See also Mohr v. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 850, 272 P.3d 490 (2011).

for injury to their child under RCW 4.24.010.²³ <u>Harbeson</u> cited <u>Herskovitz</u> as a case wherein "the plaintiff mother brought a malpractice action for the death of her child from throat cancer," and later referred to a death case as "a medical malpractice suit for failure to diagnose and treat." <u>Herskovits</u> includes a survivorship action brought by the personal representative of the deceased, yet refers to it as a "medical malpractice case." In <u>Harris</u>, the court applied the medical malpractice statute of limitations to an action resulting in death. The trial court here cited <u>Bennett</u>, (RP 2-3), which applied medical negligence statutes to a case of death from negligent prescribing. The <u>Wilson</u> court recognized that the decedent's father sued for damages "based on a claim of medical negligence." RCW 4.16.350 therefore applies here.

(3) The medical malpractice statute of limitations would be applied here, even if RCW 7.70.010 did not direct courts to do so.

It is helpful to compare the two statutes of limitation on their faces:

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