No. 315096

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANE FAST, JAMIE FAST, the marital community compromised thereof, ROBERT DALTON FAST, and the estate thereof,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

 \mathbf{v} .

KENNEWICK PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT d/b/a
KENNEWICK GENERAL HOSPITAL and d/b/a MIDCOLUMBIA WOMEN'S HEALTH CENTER, a Washington
public hospital district organized as a government entity,
municipal or quasi-municipal corporation; ADAM T. SMITH,
D.O., individually and for the marital community with spouse or
registered domestic partner Jane Doe Smith; GREGORY
SCHROFF, M.D., individually and for the marital community

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

The entire chapter is primarily concerned with various aspects of claims involving personal <u>injuries</u> of the patient. There is nothing to suggest that the limitation

of actions for medical malpractice embraces a claim for wrongful death.

While the Legislature may have the power to enact such a limitation period barring wrongful death claims even before they accrue, it is obvious to us that the Legislature did not do so here. If the Legislature had intended to include wrongful death claims within these limited periods it could have done so by so limiting such actions for damages for injury, or death, as a result of health care. It did not do so.

We conclude that the three-year limitation period of RCW 4.16.080(2), measured from the date of death, applies to this claim for <u>wrongful death</u> based on the alleged medical malpractice of Dr. Kirkpatrick.

<u>Id.</u> at 761-63 (italics in original; other emphasis added).

The court in <u>Wills</u> emphasized its holding was consistent with the majority rule, noting, "Most states have a special statutory limitation, independent of the general statute of limitations, within which an action for wrongful death must be brought." <u>Id.</u> at 759 n.2 (citing S. Speiser, *Recovery for Wrongful Death* § 11:8 (2d ed. 1975)).

Thus, the <u>Wills</u> court determined that in RCW 7.70 the Legislature was "dealing with various aspects of personal injuries by various claimants," not death. <u>Id.</u> at 761. Since this case involves a

death, and not a mere injury, Plaintiffs cannot recover under RCW 7.70.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs' argument that the law is clear a medical malpractice action encompasses recovery for the loss of a child has no basis and is directly contradicted by controlling precedent. (App. Br. 12-13). There is nothing strained about this conclusion. Defendants are not reading anything into the law, as Plaintiffs argue. (App. Br. 17). While Plaintiffs obvious disagree with Wills, the language in Wills is clear and unambiguous and it controls here.

b. RCW 4.24.010 Is A Wrongful Death Statute

Wills concisely holds that RCW 4.16.080 applies to wrongful death claims. Thus, if Plaintiffs' claim pursuant to RCW 4.24.010 is a wrongful death claim, it is barred.

There can be no doubt RCW 4.24.010 is a wrongful death statute. Courts consistently refer to it as a wrongful death statute. The Court of Appeals recently characterized it as the "child wrongful death statute." Bennett v. Seattle Mental Health, 166 Wn. App. 477, 483, 269 P.3d 1079, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1009, 281

P.3d 686 (2012). The trial court correctly held that <u>Bennett</u> is the only authority really on point on this issue and it states that RCW 4.24.010 is a wrongful death statute. (RP 58). It must be emphasized that the Supreme Court declined to review and overturn Bennett.

Other courts have frequently called RCW 4.24.010 a wrongful death statute. See, e.g., Philippides v. Bernard, 151 Wn.2d 376, 385, 88 P.3d 939 (2004) (grouping RCW 4.24.010 as a wrongful death statute as opposed to a survival statute); Moen v. Hanson, 85 Wn.2d 597, 598, 537 P.2d 266 (1975) (RCW 4.24.010 creates a wrongful death action); Masunaga v. Gapasin, 57 Wn. App. 624, 626, 790 P.2d 171 (1990) (calling RCW 4.24.010 the "child-death" statute).

Moreover, RCW 4.24.010 operates like a wrongful death statute. For example, it creates a new and separate statutory cause of action for a child's parents and beneficiaries for the parents' own personal loss and anguish suffered by the loss of the child. See, e.g., RCW 4.24.010 ("This section creates . . . [a] cause of action."). This is identical to RCW 4.20.010, the general wrongful death statute (creating new cause of action "[w]hen the death of a person is

caused by the wrongful act, neglect, or default of another). As with RCW 4.20.010, the character of claims brought under RCW 4.24.010 is one for direct compensation for the parents or beneficiaries for the wrongful death or injury of a child. It is not like medical negligence claims to which the statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.350 applies.

3. <u>Plaintiffs Did Not Timely File Their Wrongful Death Claim</u>

Wills unambiguously states that medical malpractice resulting in death is a wrongful death claim and the three year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080 applies. Plaintiffs' son died on August 31, 2008. (CP 7). Therefore the cause of action, if any, accrued on that date. Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 377. Under RCW 4.16.080, the statute of limitations expired three years later, on August 31, 2011. Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on July 18, 2012, more than three years after the decedent's death. (CP 1-18). As the trial court recognized, "[i]t cannot be said that the plaintiffs complied with that three-year statute of limitations" because they filed the lawsuit nearly four years after the death. (RP 58).

4. <u>Plaintiffs' Requests for Mediation Did Not Toll</u> the Statute of Limitations in RCW 4.16.080

Because RCW 4.16.180 governs the wrongful death claim, Plaintiffs' requests for mediation did not toll the statute of limitations and were in effect a legal nullity as to that claim. Requests for mediation made under RCW 7.70.110 do not toll the statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.180. RCW 7.70.110 provides as follows:

The making of a written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under this chapter shall toll the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year.

RCW 7.70.110 (emphasis added).

When interpreting a statute, courts look to its plain language. HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). Courts "should assume that the legislature means exactly what it says. Plain words do not require construction." Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 329, 815 P.2d 781 (1991). The Supreme Court "will not construe unambiguous language." Id. "It is not the role of the judiciary to second-guess the

wisdom of the legislature" <u>Rousso v. State</u>, 170 Wn.2d 70, 75, 239 P.3d 1084 (2010).

RCW 7.70.110 is plain and unambiguous. It does not allow for differing meanings; the plain meaning is evident. Thus it does require construction. The Legislature could have, but did not, include RCW 4.16.080 in its tolling provisions.

Plaintiffs provide no statute, rule, legislatively recognized policy, or case law that concludes a good faith request for mediation tolls the statute of limitations found in RCW 4.16.080. The plain language of RCW 7.70.110 demonstrates that it does not apply to the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.080. There is no ambiguity. Courts must "presume the legislature says what it means and means what it says." State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470 (2004).

Consequently, the requests for mediation had no effect on the wrongful death claim. Because it is undisputed Plaintiffs commenced this lawsuit more than three years after the death of their son, the trial court properly found that claim barred.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED PLAINTIFF JAMIE FAST'S INJURY CLAIMS

1. <u>Plaintiffs Failed to Make Any Bona Fide Attempt</u> to Comply with the Tort Claim Statute

It cannot be reasonably argued that Plaintiffs made a bona fide attempt to comply with the tort claim statute. RCW 4.96.020(4) requires a claimant to serve a tort claim form 60 days before the lawsuit is commenced. The language of the statute is clear and unambiguous. It is not possible that Plaintiffs were confused as to its meaning.

It is clear from the record that Plaintiffs did not attempt to serve any kind of tort claim form on Defendants before filing their lawsuit. Instead of waiting the required 60 days, <u>Plaintiffs filed the lawsuit and the standard tort claim form on the same day: on July 18, 2012.</u> (CP 1; CP 85). Plaintiffs did not even serve the tort claim form until <u>after</u> they filed the lawsuit, (CP 80; 116-117), in direct contravention of the plain language of the statute. RCW 4.96.020(4) ("A claim is deemed presented when the claim form is delivered in person or is received by the agent by regular mail, registered mail, or certified mail, with return receipt requested, to the agent or other

person designated to accept delivery at the agent's office."). Plaintiffs served KGH with the standard tort claim on August 1, 2012. (CP 80). They served Dr. Smith with the standard tort claim form on August 3, 2012. (CP 116-117; CP 269-271).

Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the notice of claim statute renders Plaintiffs' lawsuit void. "Filing a pre-claim notice under RCW 4.96.020 is a condition precedent to commencing an action seeking damages from the entity based on its tortious conduct, or the tortious conduct of its employees." <u>Atkins v. The Bremerton Sch. Dist.</u>, 393 F. Supp.2d 1065, 1067 (W.D. Wash. 2005).

Plaintiffs cannot escape the requirements of the tort claim statute by arguing they substantially complied with its provisions. Plaintiffs have not established anything remotely like substantial compliance. Washington courts have established what substantial compliance means in this context. Substantial compliance means that

[f]irst, there must be a sufficient bona fide attempt to comply with the law, notwithstanding the attempt is defective in some particular. Second, the attempt at compliance must actually accomplish the statutory purpose, which is to give the governmental entity such notice as will enable it to investigate the cause and character of the injury.

Renner v. City of Marysville, 145 Wn. App. 443, 451-52, 187 P.3d 283 (2008) aff'd, 168 Wn.2d 540, 230 P.3d 569 (2010) (emphasis added).

Unlike the cases Plaintiffs cite, <u>Renner</u> actually addressed substantial compliance with regard to the application of RCW 4.96.020, and it is controlling. <u>Renner</u> eliminates Plaintiffs' argument that they satisfied the intent of the statute by providing notice. (<u>See</u> App. Br. 41-42). Notice is only one of the two elements of substantial compliance; even if Defendants were aware of the lawsuit via the requests for mediation that does not excuse the lack of any attempt to comply with the statute.

Plaintiffs provide no authority from any jurisdiction showing that their decision to file the tort claim contemporaneously with the lawsuit and serve it <u>after</u> the lawsuit was filed constitutes substantial compliance. The law is clear that because they did not present a notice of claim prior to commencing this action, the instant lawsuit is void. Because it cannot be re-filed within the statute of limitations, the trial court properly dismissed it on summary judgment.

2. <u>Defendants Are Not Barred from Raising the Tort</u> Claim Statute Defense

Plaintiffs actually identified, located, and served a tort claim form. (CP 83-85; CP 278-288; CP 790). This tort claim form is the standard tort claim form. Plaintiffs were able to locate and ultimately file this tort claim form the same day they filed their complaint. There is nothing wrong with this form. On its face, it appears to contain all the required information to comply with RCW 4.96.020. (CP 83-85). Inexplicably, Plaintiffs decided to serve this form after they filed the lawsuit.

Instead of trying to justify the fact that they served the form after they filed the complaint in violation of the plain language of the tort claim statute, Plaintiffs argue Defendants cannot raise this defense because KGH did not make a tort claim form available. (App. Br. 32). Plaintiffs misstate the provisions of the tort claim statute.

The fact that KGH does not have the form on its website does not bar it from raising the defense. RCW 4.96.020(2) states that a tort claim form is deemed presented when the claim form is delivered to the appointed agent of the governmental agency. In the

context of discussing the necessity of designating an agent to accept service of the tort claim form, the statute states: "The failure of a local governmental entity to comply with the requirements of this section precludes that local governmental entity from raising a defense under this chapter." RCW 4.96.020(2).

It is apparent from the context of the statute that this bar relates solely to the failure to designate an agent for service noted in RCW 4.96.020(3). There is no indication it applies to the entire Chapter. This is confirmed by the only court decision to address this specific provision. Interpreting the statute, the Court of Appeals recognized that RCW 4.96.020(2) is only concerned with an entity's failure to designate agents:

RCW 4.96.020(2) essentially creates two requirements for a governmental entity: (1) it must appoint an agent to receive claims for damages and (2) it must record the identity and address of that agent with the county auditor. The first requirement obviously must take place before the second, and it is illogical that a governmental entity can be considered to be in compliance with the statute when the agent that it has appointed to receive claims is not the same agent whose identity it has registered at the county auditor's office.

Mavis v. King Cnty. Pub. Hosp. No. 2, 159 Wn. App. 639, 648-49, 248 P.3d 558 (2011) (emphasis added).

RCW 4.96.020(3) does not state that failure to follow its provisions prevents an entity from asserting the tort claim defense. There is no requirement that a governmental entity provide potential claimants with tort claim forms. There is no indication in the tort claim statute that the bar to raising the defense applies to RCW 4.96.020(3), and Plaintiffs cite no case law at all to support their position. The plain language of the statute and the Mavis decision establish that a local governmental agency is precluded from raising the tort claim statute as a defense only if it fails to designate an agent. Since Plaintiffs have never argued that KGH did not designate such an agent, Plaintiffs' argument fails.

Moreover, RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) makes it clear that the language in subsection 2 does not bar Defendants from raising the tort claim defense. RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) provides the sole remedy for failure to comply with subsection 3. It provides:

If any claim form provided by the local governmental entity fails to require the information specified in this section, or incorrectly lists the agent with whom the claim is to be filed, the local governmental entity is

deemed to have waived any defense related to the failure to provide that specific information or to present the claim to the proper designated agent.

RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) (emphasis added).

Subsection 3 is the provision that deals specifically with the standard claim form. RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) states that failure to comply with subsection 3 means only that the governmental entity cannot later claim that the claimant did not provide information that was not requested. That is not an issue here; Defendants do not allege that Plaintiffs filed the <u>wrong</u> form; they allege Plaintiffs did not timely file <u>any</u> form. RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) does not state that failure to provide a form waives the defense.

Plaintiffs' argument that subsection 2 bars the tort claim statute defense results in a strained, unlikely interpretation that renders RCW 4.96.020(3)(d) meaningless and without effect. It makes no sense for the Legislature to have enacted a separate and distinct remedy under subsection 3 if the language in subsection 2 applied. "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless

or superfluous." Whatcom Cnty. v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996).

3. KGH Complied with the Tort Claim Statute

Notwithstanding, KGH did in fact make the standard tort claim form available. RCW 4.96.020(3) indicates that the governmental entity can either have the standard tort claim form available or create its own form. The record is clear KGH did not create its own form; it did not have to do so. However, as the trial court noted, the record is also clear that the standard tort claim form is available online. (CP 1235; CP 755). Defense counsel was able to obtain such a form online. (CP 755). More importantly, <u>Plaintiffs obviously were able to locate and identify the form and ultimately use it</u>, which they concede. (CP 116; CP 790). That Plaintiffs could not actually locate a form is not the bar to Plaintiff's claims; the bar is that they completely failed to comply with the statute despite having identified, located, and used the form.

D. <u>PLAINTIFFS' CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES</u> WERE NOT PROPERLY RAISED

Appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3). "RAP 2.5(a)(3) excepts manifest

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